1982

Nick Faulkner and Karyl Faulkner v. F. Carl Farnsworth et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

I. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an equitable action brought by Respondents for specific enforcement of a Uniform Real Estate Contract entered into by and between the parties.

II. DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The Sixth Judicial District Court granted Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment requiring Appellants to transfer title to certain real property to Respondents upon payment by Respondents to Appellants of certain sums, each party to bear its own costs and attorney's fees.

III. NATURE OF RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants ask this Court to reverse the judgment of the district court in toto, remanding the matter for trial. Respondents, by way of cross-appeal, also seek the reversal of the judgment of the district court insofar as said court refused to grant an award of costs and attorney's fees in favor of Respondents. Further, Respondents ask this Court to award costs and attorney's fees in favor of Respondents on this appeal.

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

On or about the 20th day of December, 1975, Appellants, as buyers, entered into a written Agreement with H. Vance and Emily B. Pope, as sellers, for the purchase and sale of certain real and personal properties situated in Panguitch, Garfield County, State of Utah (Record 110, 121). Said "Pope" Agreement (R. 7-26) concerned the transfer of a motel, cafe, trailer park, and several residential dwellings for the price of \$270,000.00 (R. 110). Warranty Deeds to said real property were required, by paragraph 19 of said Agreement to be placed in escrow with First State Bank, Panguitch Branch, to be released only upon fulfillment of all of the terms and requirements of the escrow agreement. Additionally, Appellants were required by paragraph 16 of said Agreement to execute and deliver to the Popes real

estate mortgages on additional real properties owned by Appellants including their personal residences and a piece of property located near Panguitch Lake (Transcript 10). Said mortgages constituted second liens against the residences as further security for all real and personal properties purchased on the "Pope" Agreement.

On or about the 10th day of April, 1978, Appellants, as sellers, entered into a Uniform Real Estate Contract (R. 4-5) with Tom C. Thorpe, a strawman for Respondents. All negotiations relating to said Uniform Real Estate Contract were in fact between Appellants and Respondents (T. 11-12). Said "Thorpe" Contract concerned the purchase and sale of only a portion of the real property purchased under the "Pope" Agreement for a sum of \$300,000.00 (R. 122; T. 2, 12).

Using a standard printed form supplied and prepared by Respondent, Nick Faulkner, a real estate broker (T. 22), the parties acknowledged, in paragraph 6, the underlying obligation against the property pursuant to the "Pope" Agreement. However, the parties supplemented the printed form with the typewritten clause "which shall be the Sellers obligation to pay and discharge," referring to the "Pope" obligation. At the time of contracting and upon payment by Respondents to Appellants of a \$35,000.00 down payment required in the "Thorpe" Contract, the outstanding obligation on said Contract was in fact smaller than

than the unpaid balance on the "Pope" Agreement (T. 12-13).

The subject "Thorpe" Contract also contains the following provision, the effect of which is the basis for this dispute between the parties:

8. The Seller is given the option to secure, execute, and maintain loans secured by said property of not to exceed the then unpaid contract balance hereunder, bearing interest at the rate of not to exceed EIGHT percent (8%) per annum and payable in regular monthly installments provided that the aggregate monthly installment payments required to be made by Seller on said loans shall not be greater than each installment payment required to be made by the Buyer under this contract. When the principal due hereunder has been reduced to the amount of any such loans and mortgages the Seller agrees to convey and the Buyer agrees to accept title to the above-described property subject to said loans and mortgages.

On or about the 18th day of September and again on or about the 18th day of November, 1980, Respondents, through their counsel, made written demand upon Appellants for conveyance of the property sold under the "Thorpe" Contract pursuant to paragraph 8 therein (R. 111). Appellants provided Respondents with a written refusal to each demand, together with an explanation as to the inapplicability of paragraph 8 of the Contract to the "Pope" obligation (R. 122).

On or about the 4th day of December, 1980, Respondents commenced this action against Appellants seeking the remedy of specific performance to require Appellants to convey title to

the property to Respondents under the "Thorpe" Contract (R. 1-28). Respondents thereafter filed a Motion for Summary Judgment alleging that "no material issue of fact exists in the case and that [Respondents] are entitled to judgment as a matter of law" (R. 108-109). Said Motion was heard by the Sixth Judicial District Court, Honorable Don V. Tibbs, on the 16th day of October, 1981, at which time each of the facts set forth herein was agreed upon and stipulated to by Respondents (R. 22, 34). The court, however, refused Appellants' request to allow the production of evidence clarifying the intent of the parties concerning the disputed provision, granted Respondents' Motion, and entered a final order requiring that upon Respondents' reduction of the "Thorpe" Contract balance to an amount less than the unpaid balance on the "Pope" Agreement, Appellants must convey the property to Respondent, each party to bear its own costs and attorney's fees in the matter (R. 135-136). Appellants respectfully appeal from said final order.

V. ARGUMENT

A. THE DISTRICT COURT IMPROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE EXISTENCE OF UNRESOLVED MATERIAL ISSUES OF FACT CREATED BY AMBIGUOUS CONTRACT PROVISIONS.

Rule 56(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides that, upon motion, a summary judgment "shall be rendered forthwith

if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Conversely, if the pleadings, affidavits, and answers to discovery on file, when viewed in the light most favorable to the opposing party, show that there is any genuine issue as to any material fact, a motion for summary judgment must be denied. Jensen v. Mountain States Telephone and Telegraph Company, 611 P.2d 363, 365 (Utah 1980).

In their Answer to Respondents' Complaint, answers to discovery, and affidavits on file herein, together with the copies of documents attached thereto, Appellants specifically raise issues of material fact as to whether the "Pope" obligation was intended by the parties to be affected by paragraph 8 of the "Thorpe" Contract. The court, however, refused to allow evidence to be taken concerning the intent of the contracting parties, basing its decision on the parol evidence rule.

The parol evidence rule has been the subject of voluminous decisions by this Court. Generally, when parties have negotiated on a subject and thereafter reduce the agreement to a written contract, it is assumed that all prior negotiations are fused into the contract so that it represents the full agreement of the parties. Extraneous evidence is, therefore, not ordinarily

permitted to add to, subtract from, or contradict the written document. Youngren v. John W. Lloyd Construction Company, 22 Utah 2d 207, 450 P.2d 985 (1969). When the subject of a dispute is the meaning of the contract, the court "should first examine the language of the instruments and accord to it the weight and effect which it may show was intended," but if the meaning is ambiguous or uncertain, the court should then properly "consider parol evidence of the parties' intentions." Big Butte Ranch, Inc. v. Holm, 570 P.2d 690, 691 (Utah 1977). Courts are thus provided a means by which they can look beyond the terms found in the written contract to delineate the intent of the contracting parties. Reed v. Alvey, 610 P.2d 1374, 1377 (Utah 1980). Facts concerning the respective situations of the parties, circumstances surrounding the making of the contract, and the purpose of its execution become admissible to ascertain the actual intent of the ambiguous provisions. Continental Bank & Trust Company v. Stewart, 4 Utah 2d 228, 291 P.2d 890, 892 (1955).

The ambiguity in the subject "Thorpe" contract involves the apparent incongruity between paragraphs 6 and 8. To the standard form recital acknowledging the existence of the underlying "Pope" obligation, the parties typed at the end of paragraph 6 the clause, "which shall be the Sellers obligation to pay and discharge." Paragraph 8 is a standard form provision giving Seller the option to secure, execute, and maintain loans

secured by the subject property in any amount less than the outstanding contract balance. Buyer thereby agrees to take title to the subject property subject to said loans when the principal balance of the subject contract is reduced to the amount of seller's encumbering loans and mortgages.

The "Pope" obligation does not readily fit into the anticipated "loan" or "mortgage" classification. The fact that the parties had a clause typed into the contract unequivocally stating that the "Pope" obligation would remain the Seller's obligation casts considerable doubt on the validity of Respondents' assertion that it could be assumed under paragraph 8. The typewritten clause carries weight over otherwise conflicting printed form provisions in a written contract. Bank of Ephraim v. Davis, 559 P.2d 538 (Utah 1977). The parties apparently expressed their intent to exclude the "Pope" obligation from the applicability to paragraph 8 by the typed clause of paragraph 6.

This ambiguity becomes more obvious when the contract is viewed in connection with the comparative balances of the "Pope" Agreement and "Thorpe" Contract. At the moment of contract execution and transfer of the down payment recited therein, the balance on the "Thorpe" Contract was reduced below that on the "Pope" Agreement. If the parties had intended paragraph 8 of the "Thorpe" Contract to apply to the "Pope" obligation, Appellants should have at that time conveyed the property, and

Respondents should have accepted title to the same subject only to the "Pope" obligation. Instead, the parties commenced a regular course of payments keeping both agreements separate; Respondents paid Appellants on the "Thorpe" Contract, and Appellants paid the Popes pursuant to the "Pope" Agreement. Not until after two and one-half years of consistently servicing the respective obligations separately, and at a time when in fact the principal balance of the "Pope" obligation had again been reduced below the balance on the "Thorpe" Contract, did Respondents attempt to invoke the provisions of paragraph 8.

By refusing to receive any evidence concerning the surrounding circumstances, which would have properly enabled it to "look upon the transaction through the eyes of the parties" and "know that they understood or intended the ambiguous . . . provisions to mean," the Court prematurely granted judgment on the merits of the "Thorpe" Contract alone. Fox Film Corporation v. Ogden Theatre Company, 82 Utah 279, 17 P.2d 294, 296 (1932). When the respective parties to a contract place their own construction on the writing and so perform, the Court should receive such evidence since it may be considered as persuasive as to what their true intention was. Bullough v. Sims, 16 Utah 2d 304, 400 P.2d 20, 22 (1965). Failing to consider any such evidence, the District Court erred by granting summary judgment.

B. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF RESPONDENT.

In the lower court, Respondents relied heavily on the recent case of Jones v. Hinkle, 611 P.2d 733 (Utah 1980). There, this Court reversed a lower court judgment and ordered specific performance pursuant to the same provision as paragraph 8 of the "Thorpe" Contract. However, there are significant differences of fact in the present case which preclude heavy reliance on Hinkle. There, the issues were simple. The same piece of proeprty was the sole subject of two consecutive sales. The Uniform Real Estate Contract form was not supplemented by the parties' desire for one party to be solely responsible for the underlying obligation. Neither was there a variance of security offered under the respective contracts. In that case, the contract was found to be unambiguous; the underlying obligation could be assumed, forcing transfer of title.

The contract in this case is not so free from ambiguity. As modified by the clause specifically obligating Appellants for the "Pope" Agreement, paragraph 6 conflicts with paragraph 8. Looking behind the contract to other relevant documents and extraneous evidence, the conflicting provisions of modified paragraph 6 and paragraph 8 may reasonably be reconciled only by excluding the underlying "Pope" obligation from applicability to paragraph 8. The clear intent of the contracting parties was to

apply paragraph 8 only to subsequent loans or mortgages secured by the property.

One of the major reasons for this exclusion of the "Pope" obligation from paragraph 8 was the fact that the two contracts covered the sales of different properties. The "Pope" Agreement included property on which a motel, restaurant, and three houses are located. The "Thorpe" Contract covered only the land on which the motel and restaurant stand. In other words, Appellants sold a smaller portion of land to Respondents than they had purchased from Pope. It would be impractical to attempt to divide title to the property while the entire title rests with Pope pending complete satisfaction of the original obligation. Furthermore, it would be unfair to subject Appellants to a potential default by Respondents on the entire obligation by conveying any rights to part of the property which carries the obligation for the total property. That was clearly not the intent of the parties. Another fact unique to the circumstances of this case further demonstrates the inapplicability of Respondents' paragraph 8 assertions. The "Pope" obligation was secured not only by the property sold to Respondents, but by the other property purchased by Appellants together with their personal residences and property located near Panguitch Lake. Finally, because of the balloon payments required of Respondents under the "Thorpe" Contract which were bargained for by Appellants to enable

prepayment and early satisfaction of the "Pope" Agreement, conveyance and assumption by Respondents of the "Pope" obligation will prolong that obligation by 12 years, unfairly tying up Appellants' property not the subject of the "Thorpe" Contract (T. 18-19).

The facts here are much more complex than in Hinkle. The "Thorpe" Contract, drafted by Respondent, Nick Faulkner, a real estate broker, must be construed strictly against Respondents in case of uncertainty. Seal v. Tayco, Inc., 16 Utah 2d 323, 400 P.2d 503, 505 (1965). This rule of construction is especially applicable when the drafting party seeks to invoke the ambiguous provision against the other contracting party. Wells Fargo Bank v. Midwest Realty & Finance, Inc., 544 P.2d 882, 885 (Utah 1975).

C. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO AWARD COSTS AND ATTORNEY'S FEES TO RESPONDENTS, AND NONE SHOULD BE GRANTED IN THIS APPEAL.

Rule 54(d)(1) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides: "Except when express provision therefor is made either in a statute of this state or in these Rules, costs shall be allowed as a course to the prevailing party unless the court otherwise directs" This Court has interpreted Rule 54(d) as leaving the question of awarding costs in the discretion of the courts. Hull v. Goodman, 4 Utah 2d 163, 290 P.2d 245, 247 (1955). The sound discretion of the lower court on this should not be disturbed.

Paragraph 21 of the "Thorpe" Contract provides:

The Buyer and Seller each agree that should they default in any of the covenants or agreements contained herein, that the defaulting party shall pay all costs and expenses, including a reasonable attorney's fee, which may arise or accrue from enforcing this agreement, or in obtaining possession of the premises covered hereby, or in pursuing any remedy provided hereunder or by the statutes of the State of Utah whether such remedy is pursued by filing a suit or otherwise.

However, no authority is given in the contract, nor by statute, for an award of attorney's fees in absence of a "default" in the covenants or agreements set forth in the contract. In the final Order from which this appeal is made, the court did not declare a default or a breach of contract by Appellants as plead by Respondents in their Complaint. Rather, the court ordered Respondents to make certain principal payments to Appellants and, thereafter, Appellants to convey property to Respondents. Without a showing of Appellants' liability, therefore, either by contract or by statute, the court correctly required each party to pay its own attorney's fees. Utah Farm Production Credit Association v. Cox, 627 P.2d 62 (Utah 1981).

Attorney's fees on appeal are discretionary with the Supreme Court. Swain v. Salt Lake Real Estate & Investment Company, 3 Utah 2d 121, 279 P.2d 709 (1955). Based on similar reasoning to that of the lower court in requiring each party to

bear its own costs and attorney's fees, this Court ought to require each party to continue to so be responsible throughout this appeal, regardless of the outcome.

VI. CONCLUSION

The action of the lower court in granting Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment should be reversed. Based on the foregoing analysis, this Court should remand the matter to the District Court for a trial on the issues concerning the parties' intentions concerning the paragraphs 6 and 8 of the "Thorpe" Contract and their respective application to the "Pope" obligation.