1982

# Nick Faulkner and Karyl Faulkner v. F. Carl Farnsworth et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

THE FARNSWORTH-THORPE REAL ESTATE CONTRACT WAS

NOT AMBIGUOUS AND THEREFORE SUMMARY JUDGMENT  
WAS PROPER.

Defendants-Appellants argue that summary judgment was improper in this case since the Thorpe Contract was ambiguous and required extrinsic evidence to determine the intention of the parties. (Appellants' Brief, pp. 6-9). This argument, however, is without merit since the real estate contract is not ambiguous and therefore requires no factual determination.

Respondents do not disagree with the authorities cited by Appellants as to the standard of review for summary judgment and for interpretation of written contracts. (Appellants' Brief, pp. 6-7). These authorities cited by Appellants clearly state that a contract must be interpreted within its own four corners unless it is "ambiguous" and extrinsic facts are required to determine the intent of the parties.

Whether a contract is ambiguous or uncertain is a question of law to be initially determined by the trial court. Evenson Masonry, Inc. v. Eldred, 543 P.2d 663 (Ore. 1975). The lower court in this case specifically held that the contract was not ambiguous. (Tr. 48).

Language in a contract is "ambiguous" when the words used to express the meaning and intention of the parties are insufficient in that the contract may be understood to reach two or more possible meanings. First National Bank of Olathe v. Clark, 602 P.2d 1299 (Kan. 1979). Ambiguity in a contract

is the effect of words that have either no definite sense or have more than one, causing doubt by reasonable men of its meaning. Bartlam v. Tikka, 622 P.2d 1130 (Ore. App. 1981). See also, Amoco Production Co. v. Stauffer Chemical Co. of Wyoming, 612 P.2d 463 (Wyo. 1980); State v. Fairbanks North Star Borough School District, 621 P.2d 1329 (Alaska 1981).

Two other rules of construction should also be noted. First, courts will not torture words and phrases to import ambiguity where their ordinary meaning leaves no room for ambiguity. Lampley v. Celebrity Homes, Inc., 594 P.2d 605 (Colo. App. 1979). Second, the mere fact that parties urge diverse definitions of contract terminology or differing contract interpretations does not render the contract ambiguous. Land v. Land, 605 P.2d 1248 (Utah 1980); Jones v. Hinkle, 611 P.2d 733 (Utah 1980).

A review of the Thorpe Contract shows that it is clearly not ambiguous. Appellants assert, to the contrary, that paragraph 6 is inconsistent with paragraph 8 in that paragraph 6 recognizes the Pope obligation and then states (in type) that it shall be the "seller's obligation to pay and discharge." Appellants assert that this is inconsistent with the language (in print) contained in paragraph 8 because it is unclear whether the Pope obligation is included as a "loan secured by said property." (Appellants' Brief, pp. 7-8). Appellants



..

further argue that "the parties apparently expressed their intent to exclude the Pope obligation from the applicability to paragraph 8 by the typed clause of paragraph 6." (Appellants' Brief, p. 8).

This argument is without substance. Paragraph 6 recognizes the Pope mortgage and provides that the seller is obligated to pay and discharge it. There is nothing unusual or ambiguous about this provision since it is merely stating that the sellers are responsible for the Pope loan and that as of the moment of contract it has not been assigned to the buyer as his obligation. Paragraph 8, on the other hand, states that at such time when the balance of any loan falls below the amount owed on the contract that the buyer can assume such loan and mortgage and that the sellers must convey title. There is no language contained in paragraph 8 excepting the Pope Contract from its provision.

This Court in Jones v. Hinkle, 611 P.2d 733 (Utah 1980) dealt with almost an identical argument advanced by the defendant in that case who also refused to convey title when the plaintiff buyer demanded it. This Court stated:

Paragraph 3 of the contract provides for full payment each month "until contract balance is paid in full." Defendants argue that the typewritten language of paragraph 3 of the contract supercedes the printed language of paragraph 8. It is defendants' position that the parties contemplated a continuing contract until the full purchase price was paid. If this

position were correct, paragraph 8, providing for conveyance of title before full payment of the purchase price, would have no meaning. It is axiomatic that a contract should be interpreted so as to harmonize all of its provisions. Vance v. Arnold, 114 Utah 463, 201 P.2d 475 (1949).

This Court then continued to explain why paragraph 8 was applicable. It stated:

Although paragraph 3 of the real estate contract sets out the basic payment scheme, it does not mandate specified monthly payments as the only method of making payment. Paragraph 4 provides for the payment of amounts in excess of the regular monthly payments, and accelerated payments are allowed by paragraph 9 of the contract. It is significant that paragraph 9 expressly refers both to loan obligations outstanding at the date of the contract and to obligations incurred after the execution of the contract. Paragraph 8 applies to "any" loan secured by the property and does not expressly exclude the existing mortgage identified in paragraph 6. In our view, paragraph 3 does not preclude the right to conveyance of title pursuant to paragraph 8 according to the clear terms of that provision and in light of the language of paragraph 9. Id. at 735. (Emphasis added).

Here, there is nothing in the contract which precludes the buyer from assuming the sellers' obligation to pay and discharge the Pope Contract. There is no language contained in paragraph 8 excluding the Pope mortgage as a "loan" as contained in that paragraph. Just as in Hinkle, the agreement in this case is not ambiguous and clearly allows the assumption of the existing Pope mortgage at such time as the balances conformed with the requirements of paragraph 8.

Next, Appellants attempt to argue that the initial

balances between the Pope Contract and the Thorpe Contract indicate an ambiguity since at the time of the contract the Pope balance was only slightly higher than the Thorpe balance and therefore Clause 8 would have taken effect immediately. (Appellants' Brief, pp, 8-9). This argument is also without merit.

First, there is nothing contained in the contract itself which shows the balance of the Pope Contract and therefore any after-acquired escrow balances are extrinsic evidence which is not admissible unless the contract itself is ambiguous. Second, the initial balances of the contract changed almost immediately and as stated by Defendants themselves, in September and November of 1980 the Pope obligation was some \$4,000 below the Thorpe obligation. (R. 86). Plaintiffs in November of 1981 tendered the then-existing difference of some \$6,000 to the defendants in order to equalize the contract which would then activate the language contained in paragraph 8. (R. 133-134). It is clear that the structure of the contracts provided for a fluctuation in the difference between the two balances and therefore the initial balances are no more relevant to the intent of the parties than are the balances three or four years subsequent to the agreement.

There is no evidence that the underlying Pope balance



was ever considered in the Thorpe Contract or that Thorpe or the plaintiffs had any knowledge of the balance. It is submitted, however, that such a determination as to the actual balances or the knowledge of the parties as to the balances is irrelevant since the contract itself is unambiguous and the balances are extrinsic to the specific terms of the contract.

Finally, Appellants misconstrue the Bullough case (Appellants' Brief, p. 9) in that the conduct of the parties only becomes relevant after it has been determined that the underlying contract is ambiguous and only then will the court look to extrinsic factors to determine what the contract meant. In this case, however, there is no patent ambiguity and there is nothing in the agreement which precludes Plaintiffs from assuming the Pope Contract and from requiring Defendants to convey title subject to such assumption.

The lower court was correct, therefore in concluding that no ambiguity existed and that the matter was ripe for summary judgment.

## POINT II

THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF PLAINTIFFS SINCE THE CONTRACT PROVISIONS CLEARLY REQUIRED CONVEYANCE BY DEFENDANTS OF THEIR INTEREST IN THE SUBJECT PROPERTY.

Appellants state that the lower court relied heavily upon this Court's decision of Jones v. Hinkle, 611 P.2d 733 (Utah

1980). (Appellants' Brief, p. 10). This "reliance" was certainly justified since the Hinkle case is almost identical to the present controversy. As will be discussed infra, Appellants' attempts to distinguish it are to no avail.

In Hinkle a purchaser brought action for specific performance of a real estate property contract. The lower court entered summary judgment in favor of the sellers and the purchasers appealed. Both parties had moved for summary judgment in the lower court.

The contract in Hinkle concerned residential property located in Utah County. The seller had a previous outstanding mortgage with a savings and loan institution. In paragraph 6 of the identical real estate contract utilized in this case it was stated, "It is understood that there presently exists an obligation against said property in favor of Deseret Federal Savings & Loan with an unpaid balance of \$31,836.78 as of May 1, 1977." The plaintiff made monthly payments and one balloon payment in accordance with the terms of the contract and then notified the defendants that since the balance on the outstanding mortgage was below her contract price that the sellers should convey title pursuant to paragraph 8 subject only to the outstanding mortgage. The defendants refused to transfer title.

This Court rejected the argument that paragraph 8 only

applied to obligations assumed after the contract's initiation and stated that it specifically applied to "any" loan secured by the property and does not exclude existing mortgages. This Court held that paragraph 8 was conditioned solely upon the reduction of the unpaid principal to the amount of the outstanding obligations and that once this amount had been met defendants were obligated to convey in accordance with the terms of the contract.

The purpose of paragraph 8 is to allow a seller who retains title to the property the benefit of the property by being able to still maintain or secure additional loans based upon the property as security. However, the provision prevents the seller from encumbering the property in excess of the value of the contract thereby protecting the buyer from having encumbrances placed upon the property which are in excess of the seller's interest.

As noted earlier, no attempt was made to modify either paragraph 6 or paragraph 8 to exclude the Pope obligation from the terms of paragraph 8. It should be noted, on the other hand, that the defendants in their contract with Pope specifically precluded the sellers (Popes) from securing any other additional loans besides the two outstanding obligations already present at the time of sale. (R. 10). In this case, however, no such language was contained and therefore the

the defendants (who are now the sellers) were free to obtain additional loans on the property at any time the Pope obligation dipped below the contract balance owing on the Thorpe Contract. In other words, the defendants had specifically entered into provisions of a similar nature in the earlier Pope Contract and therefore could just as easily have limited the remedies available to the plaintiffs in the Thorpe Contract had they so desired.

Appellants argue that the contract is not "free from ambiguity" as in Hinkle. (Appellants' Brief, p. 10). Again, however if the language in the Hinkle case is examined and compared with the language in the instant case there is no ambiguity. Instead Appellants insist that this Court must "look behind the contract to other relevant documents and extraneous evidence" (Appellant Brief, p. 10) which requires, according to Appellants, that the Pope obligation be excluded from paragraph 8. As noted in the prior section, however, courts do not attempt to create ambiguity by looking to extrinsic evidence but rather look to extrinsic evidence to resolve ambiguities present in the contract language itself. Here, there is no such contractual ambiguity.

Appellants attempt by extrinsic arguments to show why the Pope obligation was excluded from the paragraph language. Again, these arguments are completely irrelevant unless the

document itself is ambiguous. However, even assuming relevance arguendo the arguments do not support Defendants' claim that the Pope obligation was meant to be excluded from the paragraph 8 language.

First, Defendants argue that because the Pope Contract included three houses which the Thorpe Contract did not that the parties could not have intended the Pope obligation to be included in paragraph 8. Appellants state: "It would be impractical to attempt to divide title to the property while the entire title rests with Pope pending complete satisfaction of the original obligation." (Appellants' Brief, p. 11). This statement completely ignores the fact that the Defendants had already divided and segregated the three houses from the remainder of the property when they sold the motel, restaurant, and trailer park to the plaintiffs. The legal descriptions contained in the Thorpe Contract (R. 4) is completely different from that contained in the Pope Contract. (R. 21-22).

Paragraph 8 only required Defendants to deed to Plaintiffs their interest in the property contained in the Thorpe Contract. Defendants would not have been required to deed their interest in the three houses since they were not included in the Thorpe Contract and were not being purchased by Plaintiffs. Thus, Defendants would have given up nothing as to these three houses nor was there any "practical" problem involved since a division had already occurred.



Next, Defendants assert that since other property was secured in the Pope Contract it would have been unfair to allow Plaintiffs to assume the obligation. Again, however, such argument makes no sense. Defendants agreed to give to the Popes liens on other real property in addition to the motel, cafe, and trailer park involved in the transaction. The contract provided that when the balance owing reached \$230,000 that the first property would be released and that upon reaching \$200,000 the second property would be released. (R. 10). The Popes were obligated to release these properties regardless of whether the balance was reduced by the payments coming from Defendants or coming from Plaintiffs. Had Plaintiff defaulted in their payments Defendants would have again assumed the contract and continued to make payments. In any event, however, the defendants had agreed in the Pope Contract to a specified payment and time schedule and the assumption by Plaintiffs, therefore, would not have altered this payment or time schedule in any way.

The most that Defendants can complain about is the fact that had they continued to receive the accelerated balloon payments of Plaintiffs under the Thorpe Contract the defendants could have obtained a release of their properties sooner. However, there is nothing in any of these contracts which requires an earlier release or which states that Defendants

must apply the accelerated payments coming from Plaintiffs to the Pope Contract for the purpose of accelerating the release of the two other properties.

Finally, the same argument is advanced by Defendants that the assumption of the contract by Plaintiffs will preclude the release of the three houses contained in the Pope agreement but excluded in the Thorpe agreement. (Appellants' Brief, pp. 11-12). Again, there is no contractual language in either contract giving Defendants a right to the early release of these three properties. It was completely optional on the part of Defendants whether they wished to accelerate payments under the Pope agreement or whether they wished to continue under the payment schedule provided.

Likewise, there is nothing contained in the Thorpe Contract which conditions the accelerated balloon payments of Plaintiffs for the purpose of paying off the Pope obligation in an expedited manner. While Defendants may well have intended on applying the payments received from Plaintiffs entirely to the Pope Contract there was no contractual obligation to so do. Plaintiffs cannot be now penalized simply because Defendants' intention may have been thwarted by their failure to provide contractual language to effectuate this claimed desire.

The preceding attempts to distinguish the Hinkle case

must fail. None of these extrinsic facts or supposed desires of the defendants are contained in the contract itself. The contract simply and plainly requires Defendants to convey their interest in the contracted for property at the time when the Pope obligation and the Thorpe obligation become equal. There is no doubt that this fact occurred or would have occurred had the defendants accepted the tender made by Plaintiffs to equalize the balances. Thus, just as in Hinkle, the lower court was correct in granting summary judgment and requiring the defendants to convey their interest in the property subject to the Pope obligation.

### POINT III

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO AWARD ATTORNEYS' FEES AND COSTS AND THIS COURT SHOULD ALSO AWARD ATTORNEYS' FEES AND COSTS.

The lower court refused to grant to Plaintiffs attorneys' fees or costs on the assumption that Plaintiffs had prepared the document and therefore were not entitled to these expenditures. (Tr. 49). The respondents have cross-appealed from this denial since the lower court was clearly erroneous in precluding attorneys' fees and costs.

First, the fact that Plaintiffs prepared the agreement is irrelevant for purposes of determining attorneys' fees. The question of who drafted an instrument is only germane when an ambiguity exists in the language and then only to the



extent that a presumption is made against the drafter. Here, the lower court specifically found no ambiguity as to the assumption provision and Defendants did not ever argue an ambiguity as to the attorneys' fees and costs provisions. Thus, the facts that Plaintiffs prepared the contract by filling in the printed form is completely irrelevant to an award of attorneys' fees and costs.

Second, Defendants argue that the language contained in the contract only permits attorneys' fees for a "default" and that the court did not declare a default or breach of contract by Appellants as pled by Respondents in their Complaint. (Appellants' Brief, p. 13).

This argument attempts to put form over substance. Obviously, the court found that the defendant had breached their obligation to convey the property to Plaintiffs and ordered such conveyance to occur. It is not necessary for the court to specifically make a finding of a default or breach in a motion for summary judgment. This Court in the Hinkle case specifically held that attorneys' fees and costs were required in a dispute involving the identical clauses. This Court stated:

As to the award of attorneys' fees to defendants, we reverse the trial court and direct it to award such fees to plaintiffs. The contract provides that the defaulting party shall pay costs and expenses, including a reasonable attorneys' fees incurred in

enforcing the agreement. Defendants were in default for their failure to convey title pursuant to Paragraph 8, and they are therefore liable to Plaintiffs for the expenses of this action. 611 P.2d 733, 736 (Utah 1980).

Finally, Appellants rely upon the case of Swain v. Salt Lake Real Estate and Investment Co., 279 P.2d 709 (Utah 1955) to state that attorneys' fees on appeal are discretionary with the Supreme Court. This reliance is misplaced since this Court specifically overruled the Swain decision in Management Services Corp. v. Development Associates, 617 P.2d 406 (Utah 1980). The Court stated the following concerning a question of attorneys' fees on appeal in an action involving a real estate contract:

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